Editorial:
GET THESE PERPETRATORS
Besides other things, the Jews can be appreciated for taking on the perpetrators of the holocaust during the Second World War to justice. They innovate their own methods, sometimes infringement of the international law. They abducted. They even hijacked the planes carrying the perpetrators. They assassinated the Nazi perpetrators in different countries responsible for the massacres of the Jews. The Nazi hunter Simon Wiesenthel became a legend. As long as human right abusers know they are likely to escape punishment, people all over the world would continue to suffer. Since Second World War gross violations are mostly now being committed in the intra-state conflict. Due to political and economic interest, the governments are unwilling to act. Even democratic governments are reluctant to punish the perpetrators in the larger state interests. The institutions formally meant to provide justice to victim prove facade as judiciary being part of the state has its own limitations. However, there are many countries where the perpetrators of war crimes, crimes against humanity and crimes against peace could be sued. Besides, Belgium (which has repealed the Act), United States laws allow such law suits to be filed for the cases, which took place in other countries. The 200 years old law, the Alien Tort (Claims) Act - ACTA enable victims of international human rights violations to sue in the US courts. According to the law, a case can be filed by the victim, a close family member or a legal representative of the deceased victim against the perpetrator, physically/ temporary present in the US. Victim can demand damages to compensation for death, physical injury, trauma besides punitive damages, designed to punish the violator and prevent such violations to occur in future. In large cases, the damages have been awarded. In 1976, Joel Filartiga tortured to death in Paraguay by a police official, who subsequently fled Paraguay and was found living in Brooklyn, New York. Her father and sister were awarded $10.4 million in the lawsuit and the accused was deported to Paraguay. 

In 1989, Sister Dianna Ortiz, a US nun kidnapped, tortured and raped by a Guatemala General who left Guatemala to study at Harvard Kennedy Government School. In April 1995, the US court awarded $ 47.5 million to Sister Ortiz. In Todd v/s Panjaitan, the mother of a man killed in East Timor sued one of the Indonesian General responsible for the massacre of 200 people in East Timor in 1991, who moved to a wealthy suburb of Boston to escape international scrutiny was held responsible and ordered to pay $14 million by a judgment in October 1994. In a class action suit filed by Claimants 1081(the relatives of disappeared people in Philippines) against Ferdinand Marcos who had escaped Hawaii after he was toppled in Philippines by a popular uprising and the court awarded the families $ 770 million in compensatory damages and 1.2 billion in punitive damages. This year, the award money is being distributed among the family members of Philippines. Hitherto, no perpetrator from India, Pakistan, Bangladesh or Sri Lanka has faced such lawsuits in the US or any other countries where laws allow such legal actions. There are innumerable instances where the governments are seeking extradition of the criminals from one country to the other and the extradition treaties between different states have been executed. The editor during his US visit in 2001 happen to meet different activist groups including the pro-Khalistani activists. The pro-Khalistani activists on being asked why men like K.P.S. Gill, a known human right violator, who now heads the Indian Hockey Federation, during his visit to the US was not taken to justice. There was no satisfactory reply to this probing question. Even the perpetrators from Kashmir, mostly the police officials who have indulged in gross human rights violations have been send by the state administration to the US in 2005 for training, they didn’t faced any hassles. Even in the case of Jalil Andrabi, despite the orders of the court that the accused in his case should not leave the country, his passport should be impounded but Jalil’s killer Major Avtar Singh has managed to leave the country to Canada and where he is comfortably staying with his relatives. We believe that US is known for its human rights violations outside US. However, laws like ACTA in the US or in any other country could be used against the perpetrators. The perpetrators could be even implicated in normal immigration laws in these countries for making the false statements, like no criminal cases are pending against them or they have not flouted any law of their country. Besides laws, the civil society groups in these countries could be activated to initiate a campaign against these perpetrators. We have the successful example of Gujarat Chief Minister Modi, which resulted in embarrassment to him as well as the Indian government. It is necessary to send signals to the would be perpetrators that they cannot get rid of the crimes they have committed. 

WULAR LAKE TRAGEDY

A Report

Wular, the Asia’s largest freshwater lake, devoured 22 school children, a teacher and a peon to death after the boat capsized and sank into it. The victims were on an excursion and having a boat ride when the tragedy happened. The students belonged to the Burning Candle School, Handwara, about 70 kilometers away from Srinagar, the summer capital of Jammu and Kashmir. Shortly, after the tragic incident, which was mourned by the people of the valley, a team of the Public Commission on Human Rights visited the area and prepared the following report.

On May 30, 2006, 110 school children from Burning Candle School, Handwara had gone for excursion to Baba-Shukur-din shrine, situated at the top of a Kerewa near Watlab Sopore in north of Kashmir. After some hours of enjoyment, at around 4 pm, the teachers took the children to the Wular Lake. On the shore of the Wular Lake and at the foothill of the Shukurudin peak, a Navy camp exists there. The teachers requested the camp inmates to take the children for a boat ride around the lake. The navy men agreed to took the children for a boat ride. On the first turn, around 10 children boarded the boat. As the boat went out into the lake, water started seeping in the boat from the bottom and after the first drive when the boat arrived at the shore; it was a bit filled with water.


On the second turn, around 34 children boarded the same boat. As soon as the boat went out a few meters from the shore, water started seeping in again, this time in abundance. As a result of it the boat capsized in the Lake and in the incident 22 children, a teacher and a peon drowned.

Students who died in the incident: 

1. Shoaib Ahmad Zargar son of (S/o) Abdul Ahad resident of (R/o) Zargar Mohalla, Handwara.

2. Mehak Bashir daughter of (D/o) Bashir Ahamad Mir R/o Shaheen Colony, Handwara.

3. Danish (7) S/o Muhammad Shamas-u-din Tantray R/o Khonbagh, Handwara.

4. Shazia (12) D/o Muhammad Shamas-u-din Tantray R/o Khonbagh, Handwara.

5. Sadaf Mohi-udin D/o Ghulam Mohi-u-din R/o Shaheen colony Handwara.

6. Rehana Rashid D/o Abdul Rashid Mir R/o Gonipora Handwara.

7. Bilkees Bashir D/o Bashir Ahmad R/o Handwara.

8. Suraya Farooq D/o Farooq Ahmad Bhat R/o Handwara. 

9. Sameena Farooq D/o Farooq Ahmad Bhat R/o Handwara.

10. Shahid Altaf S/o Muhammad Altaf Mir R/o Hirpora, Handwara.

11. Hilal Ahmad Wani S/o Ghulam Muhammad R/o Chatipora, Handwara.

12. Sahil Ramzan S/o Muhammad Ramzan Bhat R/o Jamia Jadeed Handwara.

13. Samie Ramzan D/o Muhammad Ramzan Bhat R/o Jamia Jadeed Handwara.

14. Kulsum D/o Abdul Rashid Sheikh R/o Chatipora, Handwara.

15. Afsana D/o Ghulam Mustafa Mir R/o Maradgam, Handwara.

16. Fozli D/o Farooq Ahmad Khan R/o Kargam, Handwara.

17. Khalid Bashir S/o Bashir Ahmad Bhat R/o Hirpora, Handwara.

18. Danish Nabi S/o Ghulam Nabi Bhat R/o Chatipora, Handwara.

19. Javaid Ahmad Bhat S/o Muhammad Hayaat Bhat R/o Hirpora, Handwara.

20. Irshad Ahmad Mir S/o Abdul Rashid Mir R/o Gonipora, Handwara.

21. Nazir Ahmad Hajam S/o Abdul Hameed Hajam R/o Kargam, Handwara.

22. -------- (Not obtained).

A teacher identified as Abdul Hameed Mir S/o Muhammad Yousuf Mir R/o Dooru Sopore, Baramulla also died in the incident. 

Shameema Tantray, mother of deceased Danish and Shazia, while talking to the PCHR team said, “ I had six daughters and a son. I lost my only son Danish, 1st standard student and daughter Shazia, a 7th class student. My son was the only future hope of our family and that hope was ruthlessly shattered by the negligence of the teachers and the navy personnel. My husband remains ill most of the time and since that fateful day my husband’s health has deteriorated further. I will never forget the scene, when I saw the dead bodies of my children. They had clasped the hands of each other while they were struggling for their lives in the deep waters of Wular. I do not want any money or relief from the government, I want my children back”.

Aisha,who lost her two kids, Sahil, 8, an Upper Kindergarten (UKG) student and Shameema, 11, 5th class student, told the team, “ I don’t blame the navy men for the killing, because they are the aggressors and have butchered the Kashmiri people over the last 16 years; how come they would have saved our children. It is the blunder of the school authority, who relied on the navy men and handed our loved ones to the troops for the boat trip, which proved fatal”.


She further added,” The school management was so careless and negligent that it did not tell us as where the children are being taken for the excursion. They only told us that the children would be taken to Reshwari, Handwara, but they had taken our kids to some other place, of which we were not informed. I had one son and four daughters, out of whom I lost my only son and a daughter.  My son, Sahil was my only hope which is no more now”. 


Mubeena, a local lady expressed,“ the merciless navy men didn’t save the children. They could have as they had the proper rescue training. They deliberately didn’t protect the children and also they did not allow the local residents of Watlab to save the children. Due to their inaction the Navy men are equally responsible for the killing of the children”.


Snober Mushtaq, 7, who luckily survived said, “I was waiting for my turn to board the boat and when the boat reached the shore, it had already some water inside and this time around 34 children boarded the boat. Hamid Sir, our teacher told the navy men that the boat is overloaded and it is wise to drop off some students, but the navy men argued. No sooner we reached some distance away from the shore, water started seeping in the boat heavily from the bottom. We started crying but the navy men didn’t stop and kept on moving till the boat capsized. Next day I found myself in the hospital. Later I was told that Hamid Sir who was also on the boat at the time of incident, saved my life; Hamid Sir died while saving the lives of other children.”

Mohammad Ashraf, a local resident said, “It was Abdul Hamid - the teacher who saved 8 children out of the 12 rescued children and the remaining 4 were saved by the local boatmen. He sacrificed his own life in order to save the children”.


An eyewitness to the incident, Ishfaq Ahmad Mir, 15, 7th class student told, “When the boat capsized, we requested the navy officials to save the children but they paid no attention. When our teachers, who were on the shore, tried to jump into the lake to save the drowning children, the navy forces thrashed them with their gun butts. We all were weeping while our classmates were drowning in the lake. The navy officers were only making phone calls till all the children drowned”. 



 Shameema Bhat, who lost her two daughters, Sameena, 14, 9th class student and Suraya, 11, 5th class student pointed out,” The government ordered to provide us relief of one lac and twenty thousand but I want to say to the government that I will pay them 5 lacs for returning back my daughters. I don’t need any kind of relief, I only demand for the justice and rigorous punishment to the offenders”.

Mushtaq Ahmad Bhat, father of the survivor, Snober, said, “We just demand for the justice and punishment to the perpetrators. The teachers and the navy personnel are the real culprits. Teachers are guilty for taking children negligently into the navy camp where the Navy in Watlab area is deployed for counterinsurgency and not for tourism purpose. Navy personnel didn’t made efforts to save our children, they behaved as mere spectators, spectators to the game of death”.

Mushtaq further added, “ We are very grateful to Watlab residents who faced many hardships in saving remaining children. Next day of the incident, they came to Handwara, along with the dead bodies of the children to protest. However, on reaching Wataean village, Handwara, they were maltreated and thrashed by the police. The police arrested around eight boys of Watlab and filed case against them. The boys were released later but the case against them is still lying in the Police Station Chogul, Handwara”.

The Informative Missive visited the Police Station, Chogul, Handwara in order top ascertain the names of the boys, residing in Sopore area, against whom the FIR was lodged in the said Police Station vide number:108/06, under sections 148,332,341,353 and 427. The names are:

1. Barkat Ahmad Lone, resident of Khanpora, Baramulla.

2. M. Jaffar Shah, resident of Dooru, Sopore.

3. Showkat Ahmad Bhat, resident of Dooru, Sopore.

4. Irshad Ahmad Pathan, resident of Dooru, Sopore.

5. Mehrajuddin, resident of Dooru, Sopore.

6. Mudasir Ahmad Dar, resident of Dooru, Sopore.

7. Shahid Abdullah, resident of Seeloo, Sopore.

8. Shabir Ahmad Ganai, resident of Mondji, Sopore.

 Responding to the incident, the Indian Navy spokesman stated, “a detachment of Naval Marine Commandos is deployed at Wular Lake to assist army in counter insurgency operations in the valley. 

 
Preliminary investigations indicate that a group of teachers and school children of a private school of Handwara, approached the sailors on duty at the post and requested for a boat ride in BAUT (boat used by navy). The BAUT has a capacity to carry 16 fully equipped combat troops plus two crewmembers. The school children along with their teachers embarked the BAUT, which capsized after covering a distance of 50-60 meters from the launch point.  The sailors in the BAUT were able to rescue one teacher and about 12 children, however the rest unfortunately drowned”.

 
To pacify the public anger, the state government has ordered a judicial probe into the incident and an inquiry commission has been appointed for the probe.

THE DAY AFTER WULAR TRAGEDY

On May 1,2006, troops of 15- RR (Rashtriya Rifles) allegedly killed two students in Watlab, Sopore, who were protesting against the killing of 22 school children in the Wular tragedy. The deceased were identified as Jehangir Ahmad Mir, 25, son of Ghulam Muhammad, resident of Goripora, Sopore, and Firdous Ahmad Sofi, 16, son of Manzoor Ahmad, resident of Malmapanpora, Sopore. 

The residents shouted slogans and claimed that the RR personnel without any provocation killed the students. They were among the hundreds of other people who were protesting against the inaction of the Indian navy personnel in saving the children who drowned in the Wular Lake.

 Public Commission on Human Rights team visited the area and talked to the villagers and family members regarding the incident.

Abdul Majeed Rishi, maternal uncle of deceased Jehangir said to The Informative Missive, “On May 31, hundreds of people from different villages gathered at Watlab and started protesting against the drowning of the children. The protesters moved towards the Baba Shukur-u-din peak while shouting pro-freedom and anti-army slogans. The protesters were in a process to pull out the remaining bodies of children from the lake. At around 12:30 pm, as soon as the protesters started climbing the top, the troops began to throw heavy stones on the protesters, to stop them from approaching the lake. However, the protesters did not stop. Troops of 15-RR, who were on the shrine peak hurled a grenade and resorted to indiscriminate firing. The grenade blast dispersed the protesters and injured many of them and subsequent firing by the army killed Jehangir and Firdous. The police personnel from Bandipora police station including SDPO (Sub- divisional police officer) were watching from a nearby distance as mute spectators”, said the uncle of the deceased student while lamenting.


He added in anguish, “ After the firing, people fled from the spot and the bodies of both the boys were left behind. We tried hard to take out the bodies but the army and the police did not allow us. The boys would have been saved if they had been given the timely medical treatment. The dead bodies were taken to the army camp, which is located in Alosa, Paribal village. Before moving the dead body of Jehangir to the camp, army took out his clothes and put army uniform on him and tied a magazine pouch on his waist, just to give an impression that he was a militant. 6:30 in the evening, we recovered both the dead bodies from the Paribal army camp and buried them in their native villages”.


Fata, 42, mother of deceased, Jehangir while talking to The Informative Missive said, “Jehangir was in no way associated with militancy. He was a student of degree college Sopore and was first year student of B.Sc. He was also running a provision store on part time basis in Watlab village to support his family. He often used to stay with his maternal grandfather in the same village. Army has to justify the firing on the protesters and that is why they labeled Jehangir as a militant”.


She added with tears rolling down her cheeks, “Jehangir was my elder son and all our hopes were on him but the callousness of the forces dashed the hope. The forces further added to our trauma by dubbing Jehangir, as a militant. No one from the government condemned the killing of my son and no action was taken against the perpetrators”.

Manzoor Ahmad Sofi, father of another deceased student, Firdous Ahmad said, “ My son was studying in 9th class in the Government High School, Botingoo, Sopore. On the fateful day, he left the home in the morning and joined the protesters.  On reaching Watlab, he was killed by the army. The army had deliberately targeted the protesters, as we know there was no militant attack. My son’s life could have been saved if the army had allowed us to take him to the hospital when he got injured. The ruthless forces and police did not move, until my son breathed his last”.

Shabeer Ahamad Sofi, brother of slain Firdous told,” When we approached the Police Station Sopore, the police inmates told us that they have lodged an FIR against the army but they refused to give us a copy of it. The boys who were participating in the demonstration were enlisted in the army camp and in the Police Station Sopore and an FIR is lodged against them. These boys and other persons of Watlab village are put to forced labor by the army. The army usually takes the local youth for constructing bunkers and they are being maltreated in the camps. 

 
Army spokesman, Lt. Col. VK Batra, said, “The protest turned violent after a suspected militant allegedly fired at the troops, injuring a soldier. The troops retaliated, killing the militant and a civilian”.

KILLINGS IN DODA AND UDHAMPUR

JAMMU, May 1: Striking at two places while targeting minorities, unidentified gunmen gunned down 28 civilians—19 in Kulhand area of Doda district and nine at Lolan Galla in Basantgarh area of Udhampur district on the night of April 30. Ten others were injured in Kulhand shoot-out.

With nine more bullet riddled dead bodies of the civilians, who were held hostage by the unknown gunmen from Lolan Galla in Basantgarh recovered next day in the afternoon. All 13, kidnapped were killed their captors. Four dead bodies were also recovered a day before. 

An 8-year-old girl was among the Kulhand victims while three brothers of one family and two brothers of another family were among those killed at Basantgarh heights. Overall death toll in the two carnages stood at 32.

People from all sections of the society condemned the killings.

While holding foreign mercenaries of Lashker-e-Toiba responsible for both the massacres, IGP Jammu, S P Vaid said,  

“There was a similarity in the two carnages. In both incidents, civilians of minority community were gunned down while those of majority community were allowed to go. A police post has been set up with immediate effect between Thawa and Pachola villages in Kulhand area, where the massacre took place, while the Army is constructing a helipad which will be completed within a short span of time”.

 
Vaid said, a group of six militants struck at Thawa and Pachola villages, located close to each other in Kulhand area, about 26 kms from Doda having four kms foot track. Between 11 pm to 11.30 pm last night when the villagers were asleep.The militants, who were in Special Task Force (STF) uniform, knocked the door of the villagers and asked them to gather in the house of Lambardar Gopi Chand and Chowkidar Jagdish Lal. When over 40 civilians gathered in the two houses, the militants asked people of a particular community to leave saying the Army officers had to meet the villagers of minority community only.

Vaid said the militants locked the villagers in two houses from outside and opened indiscriminate firing with AK rifles from windows. The militants escaped from the village.

Nineteen persons including an 8 year old girl were killed in the firing while 10 others were injured, the IGP Jammu said. 

Local people trekked four kms on foot to reach the nearest security forces and police picket about the incident. Army and police personnel rushed to the spot and evacuated 10 injured to District Hospital in Doda from where nine of them were airlifted here and admitted in the Medical College Hospital.

Raj Kumar, one of the critically wounded men admitted in Government Medical College Jammu, lost his brother, sister in law and niece in the massacre. He told, “I have lost everything, nothing is left”. 

Another wounded man, Bushan Kumar, who is undergoing treatment at District hospital Doda said he feigned death after being hit by a bullet. “After half an hour, I came out and informed other villagers,” he said. 

VDC members have been asked to take arms, police said, adding the helipad, being constructed by Army, would be ready by tomorrow afternoon.

 The victims were cremated in the village en-masse late this afternoon amidst a pall of gloom. 

Meanwhile, Army and police recovered dead bodies of nine more civilians of minority community, who had been kidnapped by the militants from Lolan Galla, about four and a half kilometer from Basantgarh in Udhampur district, SSP Udhampur Rajesh Kumar informed to the media.
Nineteen persons killed in Kulhand, Doda, have been identified as Jagdish Lal, Village Chowkidar and his eight year old daughter Sapna Devi, residents of Goila, Village Lambardar Gopi Chand R/o Jattan, Shashi Ram, a retired teacher and Satish Master, a ReT teacher, father and brother of SSP Doda’ PA and residents of Thawa, Sunder Dass son of Sant Ram R/o Thawa, Romesh Kumar son of Jagdish Lal R/o Thawa, Sadhu Ram son of Mangat Ram R/o Goila, Swaroop Ram son of Gori Lal R/o Thawa, Kumar Singh Rana son of Ram Chand R/o Thawa, Bhagat Singh son of Thakur Singh R/o Panchali, Romal Singh son of Man Singh R/o Panchali, Gori Master son of Ashok Ram R/o Thawa, Kunj Lal son of Sonu R/o Jagan, Prem Nath son of Ganesh Ram R/o Jattan, Magher Singh son of Mohan Singh R/o Jattan, Ram Raj son of Mohar Singh R/o Jattan, Pritam Singh son of Gian Singh R/o Jattan and Panchi Ram son of Faquir R/o Halian.

Nine civilians, whose bodies were recovered from Lolan Gala in Basantgarh this afternoon, have been identified as Sham Lal, Angrez Singh and Romesh Chander sons of Amar Chand, Om Prakash and Romesh Chander sons of Thakur Dass, Charan Dass son of Kaku Ram, Dina Nath son of Moti Ram, Jagdish Kumar son of Raseela Ram, Jagdish Chander son of Teju Ram, residents of Dakool Mora, Basantgarh.

Four civilians, who were killed yesterday, have been identified as Ajay Kumar son of Dew Masha, Kartar Singh son of Dharam Singh, Mang alias Kaloo son of Phambi and Gian Chand son of Premi, residents of Dakool Mora, Basantgarh.

YOUTH LOSES LIFE

A Report

On May 10,2006, evening time, a boy was allegedly killed by the Army while moving towards his home in Kulgam, Anantnag, district. The deceased was identified as Tariq Ahmad Ganaie, a 22-year-old barber, son of Ghulam Hassan resident of Frisal, Kulgam. The killing sparked off massive demonstrations in the area. People took to the streets and protested against the killing. The villagers claim that while coming back to his home Tariq was killed by the Army. The Informative Missive visited the area and talked to the victim’s family and other locals of the area. 


Gulzar Ahmad Ganaie, brother of deceased Tariq, narrated the sad tale of his brother’s killing, “My brother was a barber and was running his shop at Hassan pora, Kulgam. He was temporarily staying with his sister in Hassan Pora. He used to visit to his home in Frisal village once in a week. On 10th May evening, he closed his shop and was coming to his home after 6 days. Before coming his home, he had gone to Kral Chak area, about 1 ½ half kilometers away from our village to buy a Kangri (firepot) for using it in the shop. After purchasing kangri, at around 7:30pm, he was on his way to his home somebody fired at him indiscriminately, killing him on the spot. He had received three bullets, one on the head and other two on the back”.


 “The villagers who were working in the nearby fields on hearing the sound of the bullet shots rushed towards their houses, as it was very late in the evening. Next morning the villagers came to know about the killing of my brother. Villagers rushed to the spot and started protesting against the Army, as there is an army camp of one-Rashtriya Rifles (1 RR) battalion in the vicinity of the area where my brother was killed. It was feeling of everybody that the army was responsible for killing of Tariq Ahmad. RR soldiers had banned the movement of the civilians in the evening causing inconvenience to the residents of the area. When Tariq was killed; it was evening time and only the army patrols the area at that time”, told Gulzar. 


Maqsood Ahmad Ganaie, second elder brother of the slain Tariq said, “My brother was not associated with any subversive activity. Neither, he supported militants nor he assisted Army. After completing his primary study, Tariq became barber.  He was living a life of a commoner”.


He expressed resentment by saying, “Nobody from the government visited the village and nothing was done to find the culprits. My father, who is in his 70’s, remains sick most of the time. The loss of our younger brother has further deteriorated his condition. Army has made our lives miserable and unbearable. We are not allowed to venture out in the evening, we don’t even offer evening prayers in the mosque, as Army let loose a reign of terror in our area”.


When the family was asked about the filing of case in the court, Gulzar answered helplessly, “Because of the fear of Army and other agencies we do not want to file any case. Sometimes back, a person was killed by troops in the Pohal Kulgam village. When his family members filed a case against the troops, the family started to receive threats from them. The troops also offered money to them to compromise, which the family rejected. Finally, the troops killed another brother. The family was having only two sons and lost both of them. The case was hushed up. Because of the similar apprehensions, we do not want to file any case against the culprits”. 

However, Army spokesman while denying the allegations said that the deceased might have been killed in “group clashes of militants”.

THE POWER OF ONE

Khurram Parvez receives prestigious Reebok Human Rights Award in New York

It was an evening of music, film, frustration, and tears, but in the end, a three-tiered sold-out auditorium rushed to their feet in thunderous ovation, hundreds of hands expressing defiance of injustice around the world. Khurram Parvez stood in the light and closed his eyes, a million memories running through his head. One message was loud and clear: Keep going.

On May 17, 2006, Khurram Parvez, a young Kashmiri activist from Srinagar, was awarded the 2006 Reebok Human Rights Award, together with three other activists (from China, USA and Zimbabwe) in the Skirball Center for the Performing Arts at New York University, USA.

The Reebok Award Jury characterized Khurram as a courageous voice of peace, defending human rights in the war-torn Kashmir and encouraging young people to pursue peaceful approaches to change in stead of taking up the gun: ‘Although he has endured grave injury, he continues to advocate for human rights and for families affected by violence’, the folder for the Award Ceremony of May 17 reads.


Reebok is an American sports company that claims commitment to human rights to be a hallmark of its corporate identity. In that spirit, Reebok started to distribute human rights awards in 1988. 

Khurram, 28, was recognized for his continued work with the Jammu and Kashmir Coalition of Civil Society, an organization devoted to the documentation and defence of human rights violations in Kashmir. Through the Jammu and Kashmir Coalition of Civil Society, Khurram has advocated for fair elections, carried investigations of disappeared people, defending the human rights victims and for creating the space for democratic discourse by involving the youth in various social endeavours.  

Kerry Kennedy, niece of former president of United States of America, John F. Kennedy and founder of the Robert F. Kennedy Memorial Centre for Human Rights (in remembrance of her father) handed over the Reebok Award to Khurram. Kennedy pointed to the fact that the Indian military presence in Kashmir dramatically exceeds the amount of Allied troops stationed in Iraq since Bush marched in. She spoke about ‘the military occupation of Kashmir by India and, as a consequence, the plight of the Kashmiri civilians’.  

Human Rights violations in Kashmir were at their worst 1993-1996, but many activists say that level of crisis has returned. In Khurram’s words, “the presence of more than 500 thousand soldiers equipped with draconian laws and protected with impunity, along with 2000 militants makes Kashmir the hottest conflict zone in the world.” 

Khurram was thirteen years old when his grandfather was killed during a peaceful demonstration. Rather then turning to violence to avenge his grandfather’s death, Khurram began to read and focus on a peaceful solution to widespread human rights crisis in Kashmir. In 1996, as a student at Kashmir University, Khurram started a helpline, which provided guidance and assistance to students affected by the conflict. After college, Khurram had the opportunity to leave Kashmir but he stayed, committing his life to human rights work. 

Two years ago, Khurram became a victim of the conflict. He lost his leg in a landmine accident while monitoring elections in Kashmir. His driver and his close friend, Aasia Jeelani, died in that accident. On the day of the Reebok Awards, images of that event played across a giant screen as if the sprits of these two brave souls were in the room, compelling all to listen. 

In a powerful speech, Khurram reminded hundreds of Americans that lasting peace would only come from a deeper understanding of the human face beyond the headlines. “This award stands as symbol of remembrance of all those faces unseen, voices unheard and souls familiar as well as strangers whose killings and sufferings everyday have deepened our commitment and cemented our belief in the rights movement.”

The Reebok Human Rights Board, chaired by Paul Fireman, receives 10,000 nominations every year from all over the world. After careful review and further reference, they choose four recipients of the award and bring them to New York for the event, followed by a tour of schools and strategic meetings. 

 “Be that Kashmir, Chechnya, Darfur or any similar problem, all are in dire need of sustained global attention. In this context, global civil society, of which American civil society is an influential constituent, has a special role to play in supporting the rights movements based on people’s aspirations”, Khurram expressed. 

Before stepping off, a brightly lit stage in New York, Khurram looked hard into the eyes of the captivated American audience. He called upon the words of an American civil rights leader Martin Luther King to make an international point: “Injustice anywhere is the threat to justice everywhere.” 

COUPLE DISAPPEARS MYSTERIOUSLY

In a first such case of its kind a young married couple, Syed Ehsan Qadri and his wife Shagufta, disappeared under mysterious circumstances from Jammu after being kidnapped by six unknown persons on March 11, 2006. Disappeared Ehsan’s brother, Shabir Ahmad has approached the Public Commission on Human Rights in this connection.

Following are the case details provided by him to The Informative Missive. 

Syed Ehsan Qadri of Tangmarg (district Baramulla) lived with his wife Shagufta basically from Buchpora, Srinagar, in a rented flat at Sidra, Jammu. In the morning of 11th March 2006, unknown persons kidnapped the couple when they were shopping in Sidra, market of Jammu.  

At around 3:00 pm, perhaps the same posse of unknown persons barged in the rented residence of Ehsan and took away laptop and some other articles. Mother-in-law of Ehsan, Shazada Begum who was present there witnessed the break-in. Shahzada was perturbed since the couple didn’t return after leaving early in the morning. On the same day, the party came again and ransacked the house at 6:00 pm. 

When the couple didn’t return till late in the night, Shagufta’s father and other relatives approached the police post Sidhra, Jammu to lodge an FIR. However, police refused to file an FIR and instead filed a missing report wherein it has been mentioned that the couple went out for shopping and never returned and also the fact that some persons broke into the house forcefully and ransacked it and took away certain articles. Police are yet to file FIR either for kidnapping or theft.  


 “Now five years ago, Ehsaan had a quarrel with his parents and he left his home. Since then he never contacted the family,” Shabir Ahmad brother of Ehsaan told The Informative Missive.


Shabir was too young to understand the reason why Ehsaan had such a quarrel, which compelled him to leave his home forever. Neither today, he knew the reason why he had the quarrel?   


While giving other details he said, “It was a surprise and equally a shock to us the way we came to know about Ehsaan after a long time. We were informed by his in-laws about the disappearance of their daughter and son-in-law”, Shabir adds. 


Meanwhile, Station House Officer (SHO) Nagrota rang up Shabir and asked few questions about his disappeared brother like what was he doing in Jammu, was he sure that the disappeared person was his brother? After questioning, the SHO assured him of investigating the matter.    


Shabir further told, “On March 28, I left for Jammu and on 29th March around 9:30 am, I went to the concerned police station and met the SHO there. The SHO kept me there till 11: 45 pm.  Few intelligence agencies, SHO and other police officials quizzed me. Before letting me go, they asked me to come again the next day. Next day, they asked the same questions which they had asked the first day. They also took my identity card, which is still lying there”.


 “We approached the mainstream political parties, higher police officials to intervene and help us to ascertain the whereabouts of the disappeared couple. Earlier police showed some interest in the case however with time it weakened and police is yet to file an FIR in the matter. The in-laws of Ehsan filed a writ petition in Jammu division of the J&K High Court. The High Court on March 27 ordered to investigate the case and file objections within 15 days”. 


The case took an ugly turn on March 31, 2006, when a Jammu based English daily newspaper published a news item having relevance with the kidnapping. The news item read a property dealer namely, Mohammad Iqbal Bhat was tortured and threatened to be implicated in the kidnapping of the couple by the Jammu police, if he failed to pay them the amount of Rupees 2 lac. 


Shabir, while giving the past details of his brother Ehsan said, “ It was through Ehsan’s in-laws we came to know about Ehsan and what he did since he left his home. After leaving his home, he had gone to Delhi to pursue computer engineering and finally returned to Jammu where he rented a flat, which belonged to Ms. Bala Jyoti, a Sub Judge in Sidra, Samba. He also purchased land in Sidra and a house was under construction. He married Shugufta early in the year 2006. Nevertheless, he was living a happy life with his wife”. 
TRAGIC FAMILY

Aalosa is a village in Bandipora. It has suffered in many ways from the inception of armed conflict in Kashmir. Over the last 16 turbulent years, the village has lost most of its youth due to various violent incidents. In the same village there is a small house resting on the edge of the mountain belongs to Muhammad Abdullah Bhat, an ailing man of 90 years. He puts up with his wife Saida Begum, 68, his daughter Shakeela and a grand daughter Mehbooba, 10. Abdullah has lost all his three sons, besides his son-in law to the ongoing conflict in Kashmir. They were all associated with the militancy. 
Their names are Bilal Ahmad Bhat, 25, Muhammad Ayoub Bhat, 23, Muhammad Azad, 18 and Riyaz Ahmad Lone, 25, son–in-law.

 
The Informative Missive met the bereaved family and talked to the agonized father.

Abdullah, a tragedy stricken father lamented while talking to The Informative Missive, “ I consider myself the most unluckiest person as I lost all my three sons and even my adopted son-in-law. My daughter became widow and my granddaughter orphaned”.


 “My elder son Bilal was martyred in an encounter with the troops of army in the Koyal Muqam village of Bandipora in 1994. After 23 days of my elder son’s death, my second elder son Ayoub died in a similar manner and was killed in an encounter with the troops in Nathpora, Bandipora. My younger son, Azad, joined militancy in the year 1994 and got killed in an encounter in Gurez, Bandipora in 1998. He is buried there. I lost everything in this conflict. Now at the time of need, there is no one who could assist me or console me”, told Abdullah while shedding tears.


He added,“ I got my daughter Shakeela married to Riyaz Ahmad Lone son of Abdul Rahim resident of Binel pora Bandipora in the year 1995. They were living with me, as I was alone. Unfortunately, after one and half year of their marriage, Riyaz went to Pakistan Administered Kashmir (PAK) for the arms and ammunition training and got himself associated with militancy. While coming back from PAK, he was killed in an encounter on the line of control in Uri, Baramulla. My widow daughter gave birth to a girl child Mehbooba who is now ten years old and is studying in 6th standard in High School Aalosa, Bandipora”.


 “ Now I remarried my daughter to Abdul Rashid Bhat and they are residing in a separate house a few meters away from my house. Shakeela’s daughter Mehbooba is living with me. Many a times, I approached the government for some assistance but they always turn a deaf ear. Every time they reiterate the same words that your sons were militants and we cannot help you and your family. Right now, I am taking care of my family, but what will happen to them after me?” Abdullah said. 

POONCH DIARY

A Report on the formation of Village Defence Committees in Poonch

Two massacres have taken place in Surankote, a tehsil in Poonch district. One massacre in Sailan village of Surankote, when on August 4, 1998, 19 people were killed. The State Human Rights Commission (SHRC) investigated the massacre and indicted the army and renegades. There is only one person who survived the massacre and presently works in a government department. The police carried no investigation and not a single case was filed. 

The other major incident was in Moghrapachi (Surankote) on June 29, 1999, when a group of SOG (Special Operation Group) along with army massacred 16 members of a family. The dead bodies were gathered in a house, which were later set to fire. People took away charred bodies to Surankote and protested against the army. One of the girls of the family survived the attack. In this case, the police lodged an FIR against the renegades working with army. These renegades had perpetrated the massacre and the police arrested them and after that no body knows what happened to the case. No body was punished or brought to the book. 

The army has formed a counterinsurgency group comprised of civilians named it “Indian Police Peerpanchal Scouts”. It comprises of people from Gujjar community. Scouts have been provided with weapons like SLR’s, AK47 etc. People have serious concern over the weapons being given to the civilians in the area. 

Maghra - 15 kilometers from Surankote and Harimarote - 12 kilometers from Surankote. In these villages, men and women nearly three - four hundreds in number from Gujjar community have been recruited as Village Defence Committee (VDC) members.

The VDC operate to counter the militancy. Four VDC persons are paid salary equivalent to one Special Police Officer (SPO) and they are rewarded if they kill militants.

The Poonch district, has a history of serving the army prior to 1947. The retired army men are re-recruited in the state police and are provided with a salary of 2000 rupees. They are also used for the counterinsurgency purpose. According to a rough estimate, there are around three hundred such ex-army persons who accompany regular army and police in counterinsurgency operations. Army has raised 3 battalions of TA (Territorial army or Temporary army). The recruitment was made from locals who collaborate with the army. These persons work as masquerading militants and are given a monthly salary of 5000 rupees. They are brought to the area after providing them arms and ammunition training. Three years back, police have established a special cell where the detainees are kept. Army and other security agencies are jointly using this special police cell, which is under the control of Deputy Superintendent of Police but now the cell is used as interrogation centers and the ICRC (International Committee Of Red Cross) has no permission to visit this cell. The severely tortured detainees are kept there and once their health condition improves, they are sent to other jails. 

Budhal - a tehsil in the Rajouri district. The army has Budhal brigade and this brigade has been provided with 400 rifles. The brigade is comprised mostly of jar community and people from other communities are also recruited.  

In RS Pora, Jammu, there is a brigade named Zoravar Sena. The civilians are recruited in this brigade and they work in counter-insurgency operations.

FATHER OF 7 KILLED

 On May 22, 2006, troops of 8 Rashtriya Rifles 8 (RR) allegedly tortured and murdered Ali Mohammad Dar, a civilian who was a father of seven children and two of them were handicapped, in Charkote village of Lolab in Kupwara district, sparking massive and violent demonstrations in the area. The government also ordered a probe in a routine manner.

45-year-old Ali Muhammad Dar son of Fateh Muhammad Dar is survived by his wife, four daughters, and three sons, two of whom are handicapped. Army says the civilian was mistaken for a militant because “he was not carrying a lantern and died in crossfire when soldiers came under fire from militants on the night of May 22”. 

The agitated mourners denying the army claims said he was carrying a lantern and was murdered in cold blood after soldiers had detained him. There was no exchange of fire between militants and the troops as claimed by army. 
Khazir Muhammad Dar, a local resident, told, “After offering late evening prayers we came out of mosque together and I saw him off. I saw Army roaming in the mohalla and Ali entered his house in their (army) presence”. 

Arshad Ahmad, 22, son of the slain farmer, said, “He took a lantern and a spade in hand and went to irrigate the field, which is 200 meters away from our house. The soldiers caught him and after torturing him shot him dead. Around 12.20 a.m. they took his body to Gujarpati (the base camp of 19 RR, 7 km from Sogam). I was waiting outside the camp for one hour to receive his body. I waited for more than an hour outside the police station where I saw Abba (dady) still bleeding”. 

Local residents wishing anonymity, for fear of reprisal said that they heard Ali’s cries when troops were torturing him. “After half an hour, they staged a gunfight and fired for nearly twenty minutes to give an impression that he was killed in cross firing,” they said. 

At least 20 bullets had been pumped in the head, arms and back of white bearded Ali Muhammad. 

Thousands of people assembled to protest the killing. The protesters carried the body of Ali Muhammad on a stretcher and chanting slogans in favour of freedom and Pakistan and against India, Army and the state government. A procession towards the 8 RR camp, 50 meters away from Charkote village. They burned a gymnasium constructed by Army. The protesters also blocked the Kupwara-Lolab road for many hours. 

Brigadier V. Manoharan, Commander of 8 RR told, “It is highly unfortunate. Basically troops party was heading towards Shuiyal village and came under heavy fire from militants and in retaliatory firing Ali was killed since he was irrigating the land without carrying lantern or torchlight”.

TWO FRIENDS DISAPPEAR 

On October 1, 2001, the militants attacked the State Legislative Assembly in Srinagar and on the same day two boys mysteriously disappeared, after leaving for college from their houses. The disappeared boys are identified as Mukhtar Ahmad Naqshbandi (18) son of Peer Saif-u-din resident of Bamrood Kachama, Kulgam, Anantnag and Nasir Ahmad Thakur son of Bashir Ahmad resident of Paddarpora, Shopian, Pulwama. The family inmates of the disappeared boys visited the office of Public Commission on Human Rights and informed the commission about the incident. 


Peer Saif-u-din father of Mukhtar Ahmad Naqshbandi while talking to The Informative Missive said,  “Mukhtar was doing his Bachelor degree course in Amar Singh College, Srinagar. He was living in a rented house in Srinagar. My son had come to his native village in Kulgam to spend his holidays, however he went missing under mysterious circumstances”.


He added in anguish, “On October 1, 2001, my son left for Srinagar and was carrying some vegetables and apples in a bag. His friend Nasir Ahmad, a 12th class student residing in a nearby village, accompanied him. Both of them got disappeared on their way to J&K State Board of School Education (BOSE), Srinagar. One of my son’s classmate told me that he had seen Mukhtar last at 12:45 pm in Amar Singh College when he was going to BOSE with his friend”. 


“I was informed by my sister who resides at Nowgam, Srinagar that Mukhtar is not at his rented house. We had to celebrate entry into our newly purchased house in Hyderpora on 2nd October 2006 and in that connection I told my sister to fetch Mukhtar from his rented house in Bagat, Barzulla. As she went to Mukhtar’s house, my sister informed me on phone that Mukhtar is not there. In return, I told her that he might have gone to meet his friends”, told Saif-u-din.


 “ We waited for two days for Mukhtar’s return, but he didn’t return. I confirmed from all the friends about my son’s whereabouts, but nobody knew where he had gone? On 4th October, I approached Police Station Shergari and informed the police about my son’s disappearance, but police after confirmation from its sources told me that they didn’t know any thing about him and his friend. On 7th October, I filed a missing report in Kulgam police station. I moved from pillar to post to ascertain the whereabouts of my son, but nothing came up”, added irked father.


  “After all the exertions, I fail to locate my son. After the lapse of three months, I received my son’s college identity card (ID) in the month of January from one of my cousins, Mushtaq Ahmad Naqshbandi, who is working in the Police Control Room Srinagar. He told that a driver of a Gypsy car gave me this ID, but he did not disclose the name of the driver, as he (Mushtaq Ahmad) had promised the Gypsy driver not to expose his name. Subsequently, a month passed my cousin didn’t disclose anything about the recovery of the ID card, but finally when we insisted, he revealed that the ID card was given to him by Muhammad Ishfaq Shah, driver of SDPO (Sub-Divisional Police Officer) Shaheed Gunj Tanveer Jeelani”, grumbled Saif-u-din.


“ I met the driver Ishfaq and asked him about Mukhtar, he told that he picked up the ID card from his officer, Tanveer Jeelani’s Gypsy car. He also told me that you came late, why didn’t you approach me at the time of receiving the ID card. I told him that my cousin (Mushtaq) didn’t divulge your name and address, for he had promised you. After that we searched every nook and corner, but all in vain”, said distressed Saif-u-din.

“Meanwhile, police and security agencies allegedly claim that Nasir Ahmad, who had disappeared with Mukhtar has killed a contractor and a chowkidar (watchman) in Shopian, Kulgam area. The allegations are spurious. Security agencies want the matter of disappearance to be hushed up”, narrates agonized Saif-u-din. The grandfather of Mukhtar has filed a habeas corpus petition in the Srinagar, High Court.

TROOPS KILLS MENTALLY DERANGED MAN 

Alleged killing of a mentally challenged man by troops in the intervening night of May 12 and 13 triggered massive protests in Kunanposhpora, Kupwara. People demanded action against the accused. Army while regretting the killing, termed it a case of “mistaken identity”.

40-year-old Muhammad Abdullah Sheikh son of late Fateh Muhammad, was allegedly gunned down by troops on the banks of Khamel River. 

One of the protesters Fayaz Ahmed Sheikh said Abdullah, revered by locals as dervish (spiritual person) had left his home after dinner. 

“Abdullah came to our residence at 10 pm and we offered him dinner. He left at 11 pm for his home. Although, we asked him to stay for the night, he left,” Fayaz said. 

As Abdullah left, Fayaz said he heard some gunshots. Scared, he didn’t dare to come out.
In the morning troops cordoned the area and started search operations. Abdullah’s body was spotted in the village. 

Soon, the villagers came out chanting slogans against Army. They registered a case at police station Trehgam. 
Superintendent of Police (SP) Kupwara who visited the spot assured the protesters of probing the incident. 
Army termed it a case of mistaken identity and said it was “highly unfortunate”. 

Brig A.K. Rathore of 68 Mountain Brigade told that Abdullah was not carrying any lantern. “There was information about movement of militants. As the troops (in) ambush saw Abdullah moving they asked him to raise his hands, he ran away and army fired. He got killed.” 

“We regret the killing and it is highly unfortunate. We didn’t kill him intentionally”, Rathore added. 

Kunanposhpora, where Abdullah got killed, was in the news in early 1990’s when the sleeping hamlet woke up to witness the mass gang rape of women during an operation by the 4 Rajputana Rifles on the night of February 23/24 in 1991.

3 AGED GUJJARS TORTURED
Three Gujjar men, aged 60, 65, and 70, belonging to Khudi, Lolab  district Kupwara were tortured by the soldiers of 19 Rashtriya Rifles (RR) on May 10 at Wavoora camp. The commander of the local RR unit Brigadier V. Manoharan, has termed the torture of aged men as “affront to his conscience” and affirmed that the accused Major of the 19 RR camp “won’t be spared if found guilty”. 

 
The victims, Salam Din, 60, Muhammad Akram, 65 and Mama Din Gujjar, 70, have been admitted in the surgical ward of Sub-District Hospital, Kupwara. Doctors told that the trio would be kept under supervision overnight for any internal injury that might have been caused by the kicking and slapping done by the soldiers. 

TESTIMONIES 
 
Salam Din, 60, of Khudi village raises horses for living. He said, “Tuesday (May 9) evening I was returning home after fetching a horse from the nearby forests when I encountered the patrol party of 19 RR. They snatched my identity card (I-card) and asked me to come to the camp on Wednesday (May 10) and collect the card from there. Fearing worst, I took along my brother and a retired policeman from my village. At the camp I requested them to give me the I-card because you know without an I-card, I can’t move. Then they led me into a room saying ‘Major Sahib wishes to talk you’ but in the room they kicked me in the belly, slapped me, abused me.

 
They were repeatedly asking me to name the villagers who provide food and shelter to militants or were working for militants. After two three hours of torture, they released me and warned me to come up with the information by May 12 the Friday. They threatened to kill me if I didn’t come up with the information regarding the militants. 

Mama Din Gujjar, 70 of village Khudi, while lying at the hospital bed said, “I was gathering grass for my cattle when a patrol party snatched my I-card and ordered me to come to the camp. At the camp, one of them slapped me so hard that I am barely able to hear anything. I am feeling giddy. They are brutes; I was like their grandfather. They should have respected looking my bearded face”. 

Muhammad Akram Sheikh, 65, a shopkeeper in Khudi village said, “Last Tuesday, my daughter Reshmi got married. Two days later a group of soldiers came to my house and said Major wished my presence at the camp. At the camp they slapped me saying ‘militants had come to dine at the wedding feast’. I told them if anyone can prove that militants had visited my home I was ready to face any punishment. They spared me that day but next day again I was called to the camp and tortured for several hours. One of them would kick me and I was thrown several feet away and another soldier would kick me from that side to roll back. They laid me flat on the ground and walked over me with their heavy boots on”. 

The villagers said that they feared army backlash and didn’t dare to bring the tortured elders to hospital yesterday. On Thursday, hundreds of them after admitting the trio at hospital met the Deputy Commissioner (DC) who told the fear-stricken Gujjars, “I have talked to the commander of 8 Sector RR. He told me he would investigate the matter”. 

Akshay Handa, Commander of 19 RR said, “I have no information about how it happened. The villagers should have informed me if such an event had happened. The accused officer won’t be spared if found guilty”. 

CAPTAIN KOHLI’S FAMILY ACCUSES ARMY OF MURDER

Two years ago four Hindu labourers of Jammu were killed in a fake gunfight in Kupwara and dubbed as “Pakistani Jihadi terrorists”. Under pressure from the families of the labourers, army ordered a probe. On April 30 this year, army authorities reported that Army Captain Sumit Kohli posted in Kupwara committed suicide. However, the mother and wife of Captain Kohli refuse to buy army’s statement and say that an Army Colonel murdered him “because he had witnessed the killing of four labourers and had assured the families he would help to get justice for them.” 

This is for the first time in the 17-year old political struggle of Jammu and Kashmir that family of an army officer has accused army of murdering its own officer. 

“Who says that my brave son committed suicide? I know he was killed by Colonel Rahul Panday to hush up the killing of four innocent poor villagers of Jammu”, told Veena Kohli, mother of Captain Kohli.

 Veena Kohli says there is no male member left in the family. Her husband died a day after Captain Sumit Kohli was cremated. 

“Till my last breath I would fight and see the killers of my only son behind the bars”, Veena says. 
Caption Sumit Kohli, a junior commissioned officer was posted in Lolab of district Kupwara with 18 Rashtriya Rifles (RR). 
Army says that on 30th April 2006, at around 3.20 pm, a gunshot rang through the army quarters. Doctors who rushed there found Kohli dead, with an AK-47 at his side. 

Both Army and police investigations have come to the conclusion, that Kohli had committed suicide,
but Deepika Kohli, wife of Captain Kohli contradicts. 

”If they are saying it’s an AK-47 gunshot then tell me something, how can someone’s throat and tongue remain intact if he had shot himself at the throat. Seven bullets went through at the same time. And how can there be no bruises or multiple fractures. Tell me how is it possible? The army spokesman is lying; there was no sign of bullet injury on his face or chin but a horizontal cut on his throat. My Sumit was killed by Colonel Rahul Panday and three other officers of the same unit”, said Deepika, married only seven months ago prior to incident and pregnant with Captain Kohli’s child. 

The family believes that Captain Kohli’s death is linked to the murder of four labourers of Jammu in a fake gunfight. 

The families of the four Hindu labourers, Satpal and Ram Lal of village Chatha, Bushan Lal of Margu Chack and Ashok Kumar of Pathankote, told that they were hired as porters. An army officer had visited the homes of these men in Jammu and persuaded them to work as porters in “national interest” and promised them Rupees 5000 per month. However on April 13, 2004, army claimed they have gunned down four Pakistani terrorists. 

An anonymous letter by a soldier of 18 RR informed the families about the death of the four labourers a year later. The families visited Kupwara last year and demanded a probe into the “mysterious killing” of their men. The bodies of the labourers were exhumed in the presence of the families. 

The then General Officer Commanding in Chief of Northern Command, Lt. General Hari Prashad ordered for the investigation. 

”My son often said that he was under pressure from his officers. He used to say that he will try his level best to provide justice to the family of these porters”, Veena Kohli said. 

“My husband was killed in a pre-planned conspiracy. Is it possible that man who was waiting for his first baby anxiously would commit suicide”, wailed Deepika. 

SOLDIER ASSAULT SCHOOLGIRL 

On May 7, 2006, a Rashtriya Rifles (RR) soldier allegedly assaulted a school going girl in Singhpora, Pattan of district Baramulla which triggered off massive demonstration. 

The incident occurred barely a day after the Indian Prime Minister Dr. Manmohan Singh said that he was optimistic that his ‘zero tolerance concept’ would bring an end to the abuses and that he “has instructed the security forces to be more mindful of human rights and be sensitive to the liberties and self respect of ordinary people”. 

 
The local residents said that two girls aged 15 of Dasilpora, Singhpora in Baramulla district studying in High School Singhpora left the school at 1 pm and were walking towards their home by taking a shortcut through a narrow lane near Singhpora market when some soldiers of 2 Rashtriya Rifles began to follow them. 


A village house wife, who witnessed the trauma if girl children narrated,  “Two girls while crying entered our house and one of them fainted on the pathway. I took her into the garden and sprinkled water on her. And, when she regained consciousness, she couldn’t utter a word and instead wept incessantly. I asked her what has happened but she didn’t reply. Her classmate told me that a soldier caught hold of her friend, slapped and pushed her after passing obscene remarks but she freed herself from his clutches. Just before the girls came into the house, a soldier was already in our courtyard, asking for water. They enter our home daily and ask for water and I thought it was routine. When he saw the condition of that girl he pretended to be sympathetic and concerned and told the other girl if she could identify the soldiers who had assaulted her. When she told him that she certainly could identity them, he went out promising that he would bring them soon but we didn’t return. He probably knew what had happened and was feigning ignorance,” said the wife of Ghulam Muhammad Parray, in whose house the assaulted girl fainted. The house of Parray lies in the narrow lane where the soldiers assaulted the girl. 

Some local residents chased the fleeing soldiers but they managed to escape, the residents said. 

The wife of Ghulam Muhammad Parray, who nursed the assaulted girl, said, “Everyday they enter our homes on different pretexts. We don’t feel safe. Only my daughter and me were at home when the incident happened. The poor girl, she was in utter shock”. 

The spot where the soldier assaulted the schoolgirl is close to the market and just a few metres away from Srinagar- Baramulla highway, the local residents poured in on the highway, blocked the traffic and demonstrated against army and the state government. They shouted slogans against India and demanded freedom. Traffic on highway remained closed for five hours. The schoolchildren and teachers of the High School also demonstrated against the army. 

“We immediately went to police station and took the Station House Officer to the spot but he expressed helplessness saying ‘he can’t do anything’. He said he would call the SSP (Senior Superintendent of Police Baramulla)”, said a shopkeeper in Singhpora market. 

The local residents had a number of complaints against the soldiers. “They enter our houses, gardens, and fields whenever they wish to. They steal vegetables. Women folk can’t venture out in the fields. Women first enquire if the soldiers are not around and only then they go to work. During the fruit harvesting time, soldiers take best of the produce, sometimes 40 to 50 kilograms of fruit as booty. May Allah curse those who started the Srinagar-Muzaffarabad bus service? A day before the bus passes through this highway, we are asked to close our shops and subjected to humiliating searches”, said an elderly shopkeeper in Singhpora market. 

The defence spokesman responded, “ The whole patrol party will be brought in front of the girl to find out the person who made the remarks and what was said in the remarks and if it is established that a jawan (soldier) has passed a remark, action will be taken against that jawan”. 

PEOPLE RESCUE A WOMAN FROM BEING RAPED

On May 12, 2006, Sameera Bano, 26, was lying semiconscious on the roadside in Kralgund in the midst of thousands of slogan-shouting protesters. She alleges that she had barely managed to save her honour when a soldier of 30 Rashtriya Rifles (RR) tried to rape her inside the kitchen of her home in Ashpora village of Handwara (80 kms from Srinagar), Kashmir. 

 
The shock of the sexual assault—rejected by the Army as baseless while police has registered an FIR against the soldiers, had left the victim speechless. A man was holding a saline dextrose bottle in hand feeding the essential fluids to resuscitate Sameera.

The villagers said that around 9 am Friday, a group of nearly 12 to 15 soldiers led by a Subedar of 30 RR camp, situated only 100 metres away from Ashpora village, entered the house of Ghulam Nabi Mir, a labourer. His wife, Sameera Bano, of Bengali origin married two years ago to Mir was alone cooking meals in the kitchen. 

Sundari, 35, Sameera’s sister-in-law, was first to hear Sameera’s screams and rushed to the kitchen. “I saw a soldier had gagged her mouth, torn her Pyjama (trousers) and Pheran(Kashmiri traditional dress). She was struggling to free herself from his clutches. I ran out and raised an alarm and the neighbors came, otherwise she would have lost everything”, Sundari alleged. 

 
Mushtaq Ahmad Rather, an Imam (one who leads prayers) of the local mosque, said, “I heard the cries of the women and rushed towards the house. We saw soldiers coming out of the house and trying to flee from the spot. I caught hold of their Subedar and told him shame on you. All the villagers came out of their houses and stoned the fleeing soldiers. The soldiers who were taking flight turned back when they saw we have cornered the Subedar. Then they fired from very a close distance at us. Muhammad Maqbool Rather received bullets on his arm when he was punching air and shouting slogans in their face”. 

 
Villagers including women from Haryat, Safalpora, Kuniyal, Kralpora, Tangwor, Sheikhnar, Renin, Rawalpora, Nihama, Kralgund joined the protesters from Ashpora and marched towards Kralgund where they staged a massive demonstration against Army, the state government and India. 

“Since Ghulam Nabi Azad took over as Chief Minister of Jammu and Kashmir, there have been so many human rights abuses. He is the one who said human rights violations won’t be tolerated,” said Muhammad Ramzan of Ashpora. 
 
Demanded the removal of 30 RR unit from the village. The protesters alleged forced labour and harassment by the soldiers was a regular feature of their lives. “They have made hell of our lives,” said Fayaz Ahmad, a local. 
 
The protesters burnt tyres on the roads and clashed with police. 

 
Superintendent of Police Handwara told that an FIR has been filed against the accused. 

Muhammad Maqbool Rather, 22, who was hit by a bullet of soldiers when he tried to catch hold the Subedar, lies on a bed with his arm plastered at Bone and Joint Hospital in Srinagar. 

Maqbool told, “In the morning, I saw 10 to 15 soldiers of 30 RR entering house of my neighbor Ghulam Nabi Mir. After a few minutes I heard cries of Mir’s wife. I ran towards the house and in the meantime few other people had gathered and we saw Sameera coming out of house with her clothes torn. She was crying. 

As the soldiers saw people coming towards them, they climbed a wall and about 25 villagers chased them. We ran after them for about one kilometer towards paddy fields and I caught hold of one Subedar. When other soldiers saw their officer trapped, they came back and one of them fired on my arm. 

As panic has gripped the area due to the firing, the soldiers managed to escape from the spot”. 

The villagers took Maqbool in a bus and rushed him to hospital. “But the bus was stopped near Quil village by the Army and they tried to take me to the camp. However, the people resisted and they took me to Handwara hospital where from I was referred to this hospital”, said Maqbool. 

“I know when I will return to my village, I had to face wrath of the army. I am ready to die but can’t remain as a spectator when the honour of our women is in danger”, he adds. 

Army version 

Defence spokesman Lt. Col. V.K. Batra denying the allegations said, “ Vested interests waiting for an opportunity to malign the image of the Army start spreading rumours of all kinds including that of alleged molestation which is absolutely false and baseless”.

CHARGE SHEET FILED AGAINST ARMY OFFICIALS IN PATHRIBAL KILLINGS

SRINAGAR, May 11: Central Bureau of Investigation (CBI) team from Chandigarh, filed charge sheet in the notorious Pathribal killings case of March 2000 against five Army officials in the Court of Chief Judicial Magistrate (CJM) Srinagar, which also functions as the CBI Special Court. CJM - Mohammad Yusuf Akhoon, admitted the challan and issued notices to all the five accused asking them to produce themselves before the court and explain on May 25 whether they would like the trial by court martial or a regular criminal court. 

After conducting the investigation for about three years, CBI has filed charges of murder, abduction with intention to murder, wrongful confinement, criminal conspiracy and destruction of evidence against Brigadier Ajay Saxena, Lt. Col. B. P. Singh, Major Saurabh Sharma, Major Amit Saxena and Junior Commissioned Officer Idrees Khan. The operation at Panchalthan, Pathribal, in Anantnag district, had been conducted by a company of Rashtriya Rifles (RR) 7th battalion (Bn) then headed by Brigadier Ajay Saxena.

On March 25, 2000, troops of RR 7th Bn had claimed to have killed "five foreign militants responsible for massacre of 35 Sikhs at Chittisingpora on March 20" in an encounter at Panchalthan, Pathribal. People in Anantnag had raised hue and cry that the five charred human beings were the five innocent civilians who had mysteriously disappeared from their residences two days after the massacre of 35 Sikhs at Chittisingpora. On April 3 2000, seven civilian demonstrators had got killed in firing by CRPF and SOG Anantnag at Brakpora, in Anantnag outskirts, when they were asking authorities to reveal whereabouts of the five missing persons as also the identification of the "five foreign militants" who army had claimed that they killed in an encounter at Pathribal and later on berried after mutilation.

After eventful sequences of nearly three years---exhumation of Pathribal bodies, DNA testing at two forensic laboratories, fudging of DNA samples, attachments, suspensions and transfers of senior officials and finally the "foreign militants" turning out to be innocent civilians---the investigation was handed over to CBI in January 2003. CBI has finally exonerated then Senior Superintendent Police, Anantnag, Farooq Khan and other J&K police officials but found five Army officials, including a Brigade Commander, guilty of killing five innocent civilians in a fake encounter. The civilians killed and charred beyond normal recognition were identified as Zahoor Ahmed Dalal of Mominabad, Bashir Ahmed Bhat son of (S/o) Abdul Aziz Bhat resident of (R/o) Halan, Mohammad Yusuf Malik S/o Abdul Kabir Malik R/o Halan, Juma Khan S/o Amirullah and Juma Khan both sons of Faqeerullah.
DEFENCE MINISTRY STUDYING PATHRIBAL CASE

NEW DELHI, May 15: Faced with protests by wives of Army officers sought to be prosecuted by the Central Bureau of Investigation (CBI) in the alleged killings of innocent civilians in Pathribal, Defence Minister Pranab Mukherjee said his Ministry was "studying" the case. "I have seen appeals by the wives of the officers," Mukherjee told adding his Ministry was getting the CBI charge sheet studied. 

 
Meanwhile, senior Army officials refused to comment on the case merely saying that as required the Army had all along cooperated with the CBI in the conduct of enquiry. While maintaining that the case was sub judice and any comments on the same "would not be in order", top army officials said the order of Chief Judicial Magistrate was being examined in consultation with the Northern Command and "appropriate decision on the case will be taken shortly". 

TWO LABOURERS KILLED  

DODA, May 25:  Killing of two labourers by some unidentified persons at Ikharabad in Kishtwar, triggered massive protest in Kishtwar town.

People observed complete strike in the town in protest against killing of two labourers. Local alleged that the security forces killed both labourers. 

The deceased were identified as Mohammad Amin, 17, son of Karim Gujjar and Noor Din, 35, son of Abdul Gaffar, both residents of Sigdi Bhatta (Kishtwar).

The locals alleged that both of them were tortured in custody by the security personnel and were later shot dead. They maintained that legs, arms and necks of both the labourers were fractured and they were no bloodstains near the site where bodies were found.

The locals said that sound of three gun shots were heard at 2015 hours last evening and some passersby noticed two bodies laying in the area at 2045 hours. Thousands of people took out a procession in the town raising pro-freedom slogans. They also raised anti-police and anti-security forces slogans. 

Defence spokesman said that the civilians were killed due to possible personal animosity. He said that Noor Din sustained gunshot wound at his chin, chest and right leg while Mohammad Amin suffered bullet injury on his chest and abdomen.

RR SOLDIERS KNOCK AT KP HOUSES
HINDUS-MUSLIMS HOLD PROTESTS IN ISLAMABAD
ISLAMABAD (ANANTNAG), May 25: Hundreds of people in south Kashmir’s Islamabad district Thursday held massive protests against troops of counterinsurgency Rashtriya Rifles (RR) who tried to enter forcibly into houses of minority Pandit community on Wednesday night. 

Locals said at around 11:30 pm, RR soldiers knocked door of Jagar Nath after they failed to enter his house, by using ladder. The inmates raised hue and cry which caught the attention of some neighbours and policemen deployed for the security of the Pandit families. 

The soldiers sent the cops from Armed Police’s 14th battalion back by saying they were on routine patrol. 

On seeing people rushing towards them the soldiers ran away from the spot. 

 
The Muslims stayed with the Pandit families throughout the night and early in the morning they marched towards Pahalgam road, blocking it. 

Numbering around 4,000, the protesters chanted anti-government and anti-troops slogans. They also shouted in favour of Hindu-Muslim amity and were demanding action against the troops. 

Deputy Commissioner (D.C) Islamabad, G.A. Peer told that the approach of troops was totally wrong. 

“They (troops) should not have entered (the) area during the night,” D.C said. He said if at all it was necessary to enter the area during night hours, they should have informed the police, as required by the law. 

Admitting the incident, commanding Officer of 3 RR told that four army personnel knocked the doors but the residents raised hue and cry after which troops left the area. 

It was second incident of its kind in south Kashmir. Two days ago, a group of soldiers tried to enter into some pandit houses in Pulwama district.
EX-SERVICEMAN MISSING IN CUSTODY
JAMMU, May 26: In the just concluded Round Table Conference at Srinagar in which the Prime Minister took serious note of the custodial killings and said that custodial killings will not be tolerated but the facts on ground point towards the fact that there seems to be no end to custodial killings in Jammu and Kashmir. 

In Poonch, Muhammad Rafiq Khan, 60, a former Central Reserve Police Force (CRPF) trooper, was picked up by soldiers of 9 Madras regiment camped at Mendhar from his home in Sakhimaidan village on the night of May 8, his family said. 

The residents of village Sakhimadan in tehsil Mendhar of border district Poonch have been protesting for the past two weeks against army and are demanded the whereabouts of the 60-year old man. 

However, the army has denied detention of any person of that village. 

The family of Rafiq told that soldiers in combat uniforms entered the house and told Rafiq that army wanted to question him at 9 Madras Camp. Next day when the family members approached the army camp the officers of 9 Madras categorically denied to have arrested any person. 

Since then the family members of the missing person joined by other villagers have been moving from pillar to post to get the clue of the missing person but all in vain. 

 Some local residents on condition of anonymity told that the troops have killed the ex-service man Muhammad Rafiq due to severe torture. 

“The officers of 9 Madras several times approached to the family members and asked them to take money and other benefits, the officers also tried to pressurize the villagers not to hold protest demonstration against the killing,” said a villager. He further alleged that the way army officials approached the family of arrested person is a clear indication that the army has killed Rafiq in custody. 

Muhammad Amin Anjum, DIG Rajouri-Poonch range told that police has registered a case and investigation is on to trace the missing person. 

FAMILY OF DISAPPEARED MASON DENIED COMPENSATION
SRINAGAR, May 20: Jammu and Kashmir police has indicted an Army captain and his “two associates” - the government gunmen- on charges of murdering a mason of Baramulla district 55 kilometers from Srinagar city, three year ago and “destroying the body to save their skin.” 

 
The bereaved family is yet to get the compensation and justice despite the police report and recommendations by the State Human Rights Commission (SHRC). 

The family of 35-year old mason Manzoor Ahmad Mir son of Ghulam Muhammad Mir of Tantraypora Delina Bala, lodged a complaint in the police station Baramulla on September 20, 2003, accusing Captain Atul Sharma alias Sameer of 22 Rashtriya Rifles (RR) of arresting Manzoor from his house for unknown reasons. 

On April this year, the Senior Superintendent of Police (SSP) for Baramulla district wrote a letter to Deputy Commissioner (DC) Baramulla saying that a case of murder, abduction and destruction of evidence filed against Captain Atul Sharma of 22 RR and his “two associates” has been closed and after registration of the case produced before the court. 

“The subject (Manzoor) was picked by the above mentioned accused army officer and his associates and killed him during interrogation and destroyed his dead body to save their skin for which section 201 RPC was added,” SSP Baramulla wrote to DC Baramulla. 

Earlier, in 2003, after police failed to locate Manzoor’s whereabouts, his family on their own searched for him but in vain. 

Finally, Manzoor’s family approached the State Human Rights Commission (SHRC) on September 9, 2003. In the application to the commission, Manzoor’s father prayed that action must be taken against the army officer and whereabouts of his son be traced out. The commission directed the Inspector General of Police (IGP) Kashmir range to file a report in the matter. 

The IGP submitted the report, compiled by the SSP Baramulla to SHRC which disposed the case on December 30, 2004 with the recommendation to the State Government to grant ex-gratia relief of Rs 1 lakh and benefit of SRO - 43 to next of the kin of the “deceased.” 

“Neither the accused faced trial nor we were given compensation,” Manzoor’s wife Haseena Begum said. The IGP in his report on July 6, 2004 had named the two associates of Captain Sharma as Manzoor Ahmad Mir and Muhammad Yusuf Mir. 

“Manzoor was a mason and we lived happily until the Army captain barged into our house with about 25 soldiers and arrested him. He did not have any affiliation with any militant group. I fail to understand why he was killed…” Hasina said with tears rolling down the cheeks. 

Haseena said she was struggling to feed her two minor sons and a daughter. “I can’t control myself when they ask about their father. I want punishment for accused so that other women are spared of the misery which I am going through”, she said. 

In the session’s court, Baramulla, trial is going on but the main accused captain Atul Sharma of 22 RR has not been arrested, though he is the principal accused in the case. Haseena Begum has filed a writ petition under Section 104 of J&K constitution against the irregularity in the trial as the session’s court has been informed by the counsel of Union of India that the challan has been split and Captain Sharma is facing the court martial. However, no court martial under Army Act has being conducted. Therefore, the honorable High Court on 27-07-06 in the petition no. 380/06 and CMP no. 692/06 has issued notice to the court and the police for filing the objections.

REPORTED DISAPPEARANCES IN MAY

· BOY DISAPPEARS

May 15: People in downtown area of Babademb - Nowpora, Srinagar staged demonstrations against the missing of a 9th standard student of Lawrence Vidya Bhawan, Rajbagh. The protestors alleged that Aamir Abbas Parray son of Maqsood Ali Parray resident of Tangh Bagh, Nowpora had gone missing since May 1 and local police had failed to trace him.

 
            His family members said that he had left his home on 1st May 2006 for jogging and hadn't returned home since then. the family members allege that though a missing report had been lodged with police but nothing has come their way to trace the missing youth.

             The worried family members and neighbours staged protests and blocked the Babademb link road to Lal Chowk for the vehicular movement. 
· 4 PERSONS DISAPPEAR 

May 17: Imtiyaz Ahmad Dar son of Ghulam Ahmad resident of Syedpora, Gathpora, Budgam disappeared on April 24, 2006. He had gone to Bandipora on April 24 and since then his whereabouts are not known.  

Unidentified persons abducted Bashir Ahmad Sheikh from Yaripora Kulgam in Islamabad (Anantnag) district on Wednesday, May 17 2006. His whereabouts are unknown. 


                Mushtaq Ahmad Malik son of Ghulam Hassan Malik of Reshi Gund Kralpora, Kupwara had gone to purchase wedding garments from Kupwara market on May 20 and since then his whereabouts are not known. The whereabouts of Rafiq Dedu, 37, son of Shams-ud-Din are not known since April 17, 2006 after he left for his home at Theian Gujran, Kalaroos, Kupwara from Alamdar House Colony, Bemina, Srinagar at 11:30 a.m.  
· PERFUME SELLER DISAPPEARS  

MAY 20: Site of detention of a perfume vendor Nazir Ahmad Deka son of Abdul Rahim of Daksum, Kokernag village of south Kashmir is not known. He was arrested by some Gypsy borne cops from Lal Chowk, Srinagar, where he was earning his livelihood. Expressing serious concern over his disappearance, his family demands his urgent release from custody. 
· WHEREABOUTS OF MINOR NOT KNOWN 

May 22: Nine-year-old Faisal Ahmad Mir son of Ghulam Mohammad of Guzryal, Kupwara went to attend a rally on May 21 and thereafter nothing has been known about him.  
· STUDENT MISSING 

May 27: Mohammad Imran resident of Raipur, Chattishgarh, India presently residing at Rangreth, Rawalpora is missing since 24 May 2006. 

          Imran, a student of Kendriya Vidhyala, Humhama Airport Srinagar had gone for tuition on May 24 and since then his whereabouts are not known.   

MILITANTS KILLED 4 CIVILIANS 

May 15: Suspected militant’s slaughtered four abducted civilians in Bandipore and Rafiabad area in north Kashmir.

Police on May 15 recovered dead bodies of two civilians, Mumtaz Ahmed Mir S/o Yaqoob Mir R/o Brar and Ghulam Qadir Lone S/o Ghulam Ahmed Lone R/o Chittibandi, Bandipore, from Argam village in Bandipore. Both had been reportedly kidnapped by militants from their respective places of residence on May 12. They seemed to have been tortured and slaughtered to death.

In an identical incident, Police recovered the throat-slit bodies of two civilians, Nazir Ahmed Bhat S/o Gaffar Bhat R/o Marhatgam Langet and Mohammad Maqbool War S/o Abdul Aziz War R/o Suyan Saadnar Rafiabad from Batpora Panzla. They too had been kidnapped by militants two days ago. Nazir was reportedly a released militant who had set up a shop. 

MILITANTS KILL LABOURER ACCUSE HIM OF SPYING FOR TROOPS

May 23: Two militants struck in the house of a civilian Tariq Hussain son of Ghulam Nabi at village Thanala in Bhadarwah tehsil of Doda district late last night.

The militants dragged him out, took him to an isolated area and beheaded him. The ultras later escaped from the spot.

According to sources, the militants left behind a hand written letter, which said Tariq Hussain, was killed as he was working as a labourer with the security forces.

A police party visited the site this morning for investigations. Body of the civilian was handed over to his family this afternoon after post-mortem.

STATEMENTS

· NO DEMILITARISATION IN J&K: PRANAB
JAMMU, May 9: Defence Minister Pranab Mukherjee today categorically ruled out any de-militarisation in Jammu and Kashmir, one of the main demands of moderate Hurriyat Conference, saying number of the troops would not be reduced in the State.

 
"We will not enhance or reduce the numbers of troops in the State", he told. 
· NO INNOCENT WOULD BE HARASSED: CMS ASSURE AZAD

Srinagar, May 20: Eleven Chief Ministers of various states of the country have assured Chief Minister Ghulam Nabi Azad that no innocent resident of Jammu and Kashmir whether he is a student or businessman would face any undue harassment in their respective states. 

They informed Azad that directions have been passed to the administration and police that no innocent residents of Jammu and Kashmir, who are pursuing studies or engaged in business, should feel any inconvenience at any stage in their respective states.

· PARTICIPANTS DIDN’T DISCUSS DISAPPEARANCE ISSUE: PRIME MINISTER
SRINAGAR, May 25: Prime Minister Manmohan Singh disclosed that the issue of custodial disappearances didn’t come up during the two-day roundtable conference in SKICC, Srinagar, which was primarily attended by Peoples Democratic Party and National Conference. 

“This didn’t come up during the discussions for two days. I think there is scope of addressing the issue in one of the five working groups,” he said when asked why the issue of custodial disappearances was not mentioned in his speech. 

In his concluding speech to the roundtable conference here Prime Minister acknowledged that “a number of young men continue to languish in prison although the enormity of their offences were not of so heinous in nature.” 

· 1500 HARTALS IN 16 YEARS 

May 26: Chief Minister Ghulam Nabi Azad said that since 1990, around 1500 calls of hartals (strikes) have been given by militants and their sympathizers in the Kashmir valley. 

TROOPS KILLING EACH OTHER 
· SPO KILLED BY COLLEAGUE
SRINAGAR, May 2: A Special Police Officer (SPO) was killed and another injured in Lolab -Kupwara. 
 
Two SPOs Mohammad Altaf Lone and Mohammad Yasin Bhat of Takia-Khurhama in Lolab were going home. After getting down from the vehicle, an SPO working with Special Operations Group (SOG) Bilal Ahmad Banday allegedly opened fire on them. Altaf died on the spot and Yasin was injured. 

Police arrested Bilal and two other SOG men, Zulfikar Bhat and Munir Ahmad.

· CRPF MAN KILLS COLLEAGUE
 May 22: A CRPF trooper killed his colleague after a scuffle at Pahalgam in southern Anantnag district. 
 
Reports said two cops of 156 battalion of CRPF engaged in a brawl during which Surinder Singh shot at Govind Chand. Chand was rushed to hospital where he succumbed to his injuries. 

The erring cop has been arrested.

NEWS IN BRIEF

· PROTEST BY PEOPLE

May 1: People got agitated after a police constable beat ruthlessly a driver and a conductor of a passenger bus at Shaltang, Kashmir. The passengers said that the constable thrashed the driver-conductor duo with an iron rod, which infuriated the passengers and they tried to attack the constable, but he managed to flee from the spot and took refuge in a nearby hotel. People later staged a sit-down strike and raised slogans against the police and government. They demanded action against the constable.
· STF MAN HELD FOR MOLESTATION
Police arrested a member of its Special Task Force (STF) when he tried to molest some women in Tangmarg, Kashmir on 15th May. 

 
Subhash Sharma (Belt No. 483) of 5th battalion Indian Reserve Police barged into the house of a trader Muhammad Shafi Lone son of Abdul Khaliq and on gunpoint tried to molest three women. 

 
However, the family members managed to lock the cop inside a room. Police later arrested Sharma and filed an FIR against him.

· LANDMINE KILLS LABOURER

HANDWARA, May 1: A landmine explosion at 10:30 am injured four labourers, who were working on a wall, which was being constructed by the police in Handwara. One of the injured, Showkat Ahmad later succumbed to his injures, while the condition of the other three is said to be critical. 

· PROTEST AGAINST PRESENCE OF BUNKER IN DOWNTOWN SRINAGAR 

SRINAGAR, May 4: Demonstrations were held today at Khanyar downtown Srinagar against the presence of a paramilitary bunker there.

  
The demonstrators demanded the removal of the picket.

 
Locals alleged that a number of violent incidents have occurred at Khanyar crossing due to the presence of the bunker. Even three members of a single family lost their lives. Recently, Abdul Aziz Bhat of Sheshgari Mohalla was killed under identical circumstances there.

· TWO CIVILIANS KILLED, 10 INJURED IN BLAST
SRINAGAR, May 4: Two civilians were killed while ten others, including three BSF personnel, suffered injuries when suspected militants lobbed a grenade at Border Security Force (BSF) vehicles in Chadoora Budgam in central Kashmir on May 4 afternoon. 
· 4 TOURISTS KILLED, 4 INJURED IN BLAST

SRINAGAR, May 25: Six persons, including four tourists were killed and 20 others, including three CRPF personnel, sustained injuries in separate incidents across the state. 

Four persons were killed and four injured in an explosion at Batapora, Zakura in the suburban Srinagar on 25th May evening. The explosion occurred when a tourist bus (JK02N/5737) carrying visitors from Gujarat was passing through the area. 

 
Senior Superintendent of Police Munir Khan told that the blast occurred in the bus itself

· RELEASED MILITANT KILLED

May 18: Unidentified persons shot dead Nisar Ahmad Bhat, a released militant, son of Ghulam Nabi of Chewa Tral in Pulwama district on Thursday outside his house. 
	Date 
	Custodial/ Extra Judicial Killings
	Women killed 
	Children killed 
	Alleged disappearances 

	May 1
	-
	-
	-
	2

	May 7
	1 EJK
	-
	-
	-

	May 8
	-
	-
	-
	1

	May 10
	-
	-
	1
	-

	May 11
	-
	1
	-
	-

	May 12
	-
	-
	-
	1

	May 20 
	-
	-
	-
	1

	May 21
	-
	-
	
	1

	May 22
	-
	-
	
	1

	May 25
	-
	-
	4
	-

	May 27
	-
	1
	-
	-

	May 30
	1 EJK
	-
	-
	-

	Total
	2
	2
	5
	7


KILLINGS IN THE MONTH OF MAY
	Date 
	Soldiers
	Militants
	Civilians
	Others

	May 1
	-
	1
	37
	-

	May 2
	1
	1
	1
	-

	May 3
	3
	4
	1
	-

	May 4
	-
	-
	2
	-

	May 5
	-
	1
	1
	-

	May 6
	1
	3
	1
	-

	May 7 
	-
	1
	2
	2 released militants 

	May 8
	1
	2
	
	

	May 9
	2
	3
	
	1 unknown person

	May 10
	2
	2
	1
	1 territorial army worker

	May 11
	3
	3
	2
	1 released militant  & 1 unknown person 

	May 12
	-
	3
	-
	-

	May 13
	-
	2
	-
	2 political workers & 1 released militant 

	May 14
	-
	-
	1
	-

	May 15
	-
	-
	4
	-

	May 16
	1
	7
	-
	-

	May 17
	-
	-
	1
	-

	May 18
	-
	3
	1
	-

	May 19 
	2
	2
	3
	-

	May 20
	1
	2
	2
	-

	May 21
	2
	3
	1
	3 congress workers & 1 unknown gunman

	May 22
	-
	-
	1
	-

	May 23 
	-
	4
	4
	-

	May 24
	-
	-
	2
	

	May 25
	1 
	-
	7
	1 surrendered militant

	May 26
	-
	4
	-
	-

	May 27
	-
	-
	2
	1 govt. gunmen 

	May 28
	-
	2
	4
	-

	May 29
	-
	3
	-
	-

	May 30
	-
	1
	24
	-

	May 31
	-
	-
	2
	-

	Total
	20
	57
	107
	15


CHRONOLOGY OF INCIDENTS 

May 1: 35 civilians massacred in Doda district by unidentified gunmen. Meanwhile, two civilians and a militant were 

             killed in separate incidents of violence in Jammu and Kashmir.

May 2: One Hizb militant, one SPO and a civilian were killed in separate incidents of violence across the state. 

May 3: Two troopers, one policeman, four militants including one LeT militant and a civilian were killed in separate incidents of 

             violence in J&K..

May 4: Two civilians were killed in a grenade blast at Chadoora in Budgam district. 

May 5: One Hizb militant and a civilian were killed in separate incidents of violence across the state. 

May 6: Three militants including two Hizb militants, one-army personnel and a civilian were killed in separate 

              incidents of violence in Jammu and Kashmir. 

May 7: One Hizb militant, two released militants and two civilians were killed in various incidents of violence in J&K.          

May 8: Two militants one each of HUJI and LET outfits and one SPO were killed in violence related incidents across the state.

May 9: Two LeT, one HUJI militant and two policemen were killed in separate incidents while a skeleton believed to be of a woman was recovered from Dooru, Islamabad (Anantnag). 

May 10: Two militants, one army man, one SPO, one worker of Territorial Army and one civilian were killed in various incidents of violence across the state. 

May 11: Three militants including one LeT militant, two policemen, 1 army personnel, a released militant and  two civilians including a woman were killed in various incidents of violence, meanwhile police recovered a throat slit body from Poonch, Jammu.

May 12: Three militants including two LeT militants were killed in separate incidents of violence across the  state. 

May 13: Two militants, one released militant and two Bhartiya Janta Party (BJP) workers were killed in separate incidents of violence in the state. 

May 14: One mentally challenged person was shot dead allegedly by the army at Kunanposhpora area in Kupwara district. 

May 15: Two civilians were killed in separate incidents of violence while two dead bodies of civilians who were kidnapped by militants were recovered from Chatibandi, Bandipora in central Kashmir.   

May 16: Seven militants including four Hizb militants and one army Junior Commissioned Officer were killed in different incidents of violence. 

May 17: Two civilians were killed in violence related incidents in the state.

May 18: Three unidentified militants and one civilian were killed in different violence related incidents across the state.

May 19: Two militants, two troopers and three civilians were injured in violence related incidents in the state. 

May 20: Two unidentified militants and equal number of civilians and one soldier were killed in separate violence related incidents 

                 across the state.

May 21: Three congress workers, one policeman, one civilian, one sub inspector, one unknown gunman and three militants including one each of LeT and Al-Mansoorain were killed in separate violence related incidents across the state. 

May 22:One civilian was killed and 40 persons were injured in series of grenade explosions in the valley. 

May 23: Four militants including two of LeT and one of Hizb and four civilians were killed in separate incidents of violence across the state. 

May 24: Two civilians were killed in separate incidents of violence. 
May 25: Seven civilians including 4 Gujarati tourists, one Bihari and a surrendered militant were killed in various incidents of violence while a dead body of a missing BSF man was recovered from a canal at  Chack Mohammad Yar (RS Pura) Jammu.

May 26: One Hizb militant and three HUJI militants were killed in separate incidents of violence across the State of Jammu and Kashmir.           

May 27: A government gunmen and two civilians including a woman died and a schoolgirl was assaulted in different violence related incidents across the state. 

May 28: Four civilians and two Al Badr militants were killed in separate incidents of violence across the state.  

May 29: Three militants were killed in different violence related incidents across the state. 
May 30: 22 school children, a teacher and a peon were killed in a boat, which capsized in the Wular Lake. A militant was killed in a violence related incident across the valley.
May 31: Two students were killed in different violence related incidents across the valley.



NO CIVIL COURT HEARING ON PATHRIBAL CASE





May 18: Army will not put its officials indicted in Pathribal fake encounter in which five civilians were killed before civil court, sources said.


	It said a Court Martial would hear the accused.


	To mention Central Bureau of Investigation in its report has lashed out at state police for facilitating the crime. All the persons who have been held responsible for the Pathribal killings still continue to work at their respective offices and they have not been arrested. 





WOMEN – CHILDREN KILLED





May 7: The body of Yasmina, daughter of Muhammad Shafi Ganaie of Hamre Hygam, Pattan, who had been kidnapped by unidentified persons, was found hanging from a tree at Rakhe Hygam, Pattan.


May 10: Daughter of a VDC member was killed while she was fiddling with the gun of her father. The identity of the deceased was yet to be ascertained.


May 11: Twenty-two-year-old, Dilshad Begum, wife of Mohammad Farooq of village Dhandi in Mahore area of Reasi died when militants allegedly fired upon her house to target his husband Farooq. However, Farooq a Village Defence Committee (VDC) member survived.  


May 25: Four tourists— two children and two teenagers— from Gujarat were killed and six others wounded, as suspected militants hurled a grenade at a tourist bus at Batpora, about 12 kms from Srinagar city. 


 May 27: Hasina, wife of Abdul Rouf accompanied by one Rashid, a government gunman came under heavy fire from militants and died in the firing. Police said her four-year-old daughter Raja was also wounded in the gunfire. She was moved to the hospital.











On April 20-2004: Four army porters Bhushan Kumar of Mangu Chak – Jammu, Satpal of Chatha, of Chatha, Jammu, Ram Lal of Lalyal, Jammu and Ashok Kumar of Pathankot Jammu were killed by the army in a fake encounter in Lolab area of district Kupwara. All the four were dubbed as militants. 


On August 29th 2005:  After a year and four months the incident gets media coverage when a soldier of same battalion wrote an anonymous letter to the families of the victims in which the soldier mentioned the killings are   fake encounter.


On April 30 – 2006: Army authorities reported to the media that Captain Sumit Kohli of 18 Rashtriya Rifles (RR) has committed suicide. 


On April 30 – 2006: The suicide claim of Captain Kohli was challenged by his family and accused Colonel Rahul Panday to hush up the killing of four innocent poor villagers of Jammu. 








Khurram, 28, was recognized for his continued work with the Jammu and Kashmir Coalition of Civil Society, an organization devoted to the documentation and defence of human rights violations in Kashmir. Through the Jammu and Kashmir Coalition of Civil Society, Khurram has advocated fair elections, investigations of disappeared people, the defence of human rights victims and for creating the space for democratic discourse by involving the youth in various social endeavours.  








“They enter our houses, gardens, and fields whenever they wish to. They steal vegetables. Women folk can’t venture out in the fields. Women first enquire if the soldiers are not around and only then they go to work. During the fruit harvesting time, they take best of the produce, sometimes 40 to 50 kilograms of fruit. May Allah curse those who started the Srinagar-Muzaffarabad bus service? A day before the bus passes through this highway, we are asked to close our shops and subjected to humiliating searches”, said an elderly shopkeeper in Singhpora market. 








KULHAND AND AFTER


After the Kulhand massacre, Bharatiya Janata Party (BJP) communalized the issue. The prominent social groups from both the communities condemned the killings and demanded an independent inquiry and also tried to retain the communal harmony. At the administrative level immediate steps like establishment of police station with the strength of 40 constables, formation of VDCs, distribution of arms, scholarships to orphans, widows were ordered after the visit of Jammu and Kashmir Chief Minister and the Governor. 


On May 6, in a unique show of Hindu-Muslim communal brotherhood at village Badroom, 8 kilometers away from Doda a large number of people participated in a gathering to condemn the killings. Some of the speakers appreciated the relief steps of the government but expressed their serious reservations about the distribution of arms to the civilians. They fear that the situation is going the similar way as that of Waziristan and Afghanistan. The fears were expressed about the constitution of 85 VDC committees in the Doda district, comprised 20 to 40 persons in each committee that too from a particular community shall undermine the communal harmony. People have apprehensions that the weapons allocated to the members of the BJP party would be misused thereby further dividing the two communities. The speakers from both communities expressed their resentment against the constitution of VDC committees. Muslims who stayed at the houses of the massacred families to console the aggrieved persons was appreciated.


	On May 13, there was a bomb blast at bus stand, Doda and on May 17, a grenade was hurled on the protestors at Tondwah, which further caused communal disharmony and was capitalized by BJP. The Muslim youth brought the injured and donated blood by giving a general call. The BJP activists manhandled activists of the Doda Welfare Society, which comprised of both the communities.  





85 MORE VDCS FORMED





May 14: In the wake of Doda killings in remote areas of Jammu and Kashmir, Chief Minister Ghulam Nabi Azad has asked his officers to identify vulnerable villages and form Village Defence Committees to boost security immediately. 


 	The decision was taken after the recent twin attacks by militants in Kulhand in Doda district and Basantgarh in Udhampur district in which 32 people from the minority community were mowed down by militants. 


"We have immediately formed 85 VDCs in Doda, comprising more than 600 people, who have been provided with arms and ammunition to fight the militants," Azad said. 








30-MEMBER VDC FRAMED FOR KULHAND





JAMMU, May 2: The State administration framed a 30-member Village Defence Committee (VDC) for Kulhand inhabitants.


"We have framed a 30-member VDC and all the members have been provided with .303 rifles ", told Deputy Commissioner, Gulzar Ahmed Qureshi. He added that the VDC members include the members of the families targeted by the terrorists on the intervening night of April 30 and May 1st 2006.


The VDC members would be provided arms training by both Army and police personnel stationed at Kulhand village. Qureshi said that training would start within a day or two so that VDC members would be able to handle the weapons easily within shortest span of time.


He informed that members of the VDC would be increased within next some days and added that VDC would be of immense help in tracking the movement of the terrorists in the area because of being very well versed with the local topography and possible routes of their movement.











In a similar incident, on May 26, 2001, at 11.15 pm, a police party forcefully tried to enter the house of Bhupinder Singh, a resident of Aloochi Bagh, Srinagar. Bhupinder Singh also managed to attract the attention of his neighbors and with their help; the 5-member police party was apprehended. The police party was rescued on the intervention of a BSF patrol party. 








In the session’s court, Baramulla, trial is going on but the main accused captain Atul Sharma of 22 RR has not been arrested, though he is the principal accused in the case. Haseena Begum has filed a writ petition under Section 104 of J&K constitution against the irregularity in the trial as the session’s court has been informed by the counsel of Union of India that the challan has been split and Captain Sharma is facing the court martial. However, no court martial under Army Act is being conducted. Therefore, the honorable High Court on 27-07-06 in the petition no. 380/06 and CMP no. 692/06 has issued notice to the court and the police for filing the objections.
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Chronology of Massacres in Doda District 





May 6 / 1996:  17 Hindus were killed In Symber, Doda Rambhan area 


Jan  30 / 1998: 9 Muslims were massacred at Nawapachi, Marwa Doda  


April 17 / 1998: 29 Hindus killed at Thakikot, Pranqot, Udhampure, Doda


May 6 / 1998: 11 VDC Hindus were killed Dessa, Doda 


June 30 / 1998: 4 family members including 3 women at Machla, Sazan Doda


July 19 / 1998: 15 Hindus of 5 families were killed at Thatri 


July 24 / 2001: 15 Hindus killed at Cheeriji, Paddar, Doda 


Aug 4 / 2001:  16 Hindus at Sarwooth, Dhar Kistwar





When the family was asked about the filing of case, Gulzar answered helplessly, “Because of the fear of Army and other agencies we do not want to file any case. Sometimes back, a person was killed by troops in the Pohal Kulgam village and when the victim family filed a case against the troops, the family started to receive threats from the troops. The troops were also offering money for compromise, which the family denied. Finally, a time came when the troops killed the other brother also. The family was having only two sons and lost both of them. The case was hushed up. Because of the similar apprehensions, we do not want to file any case against the culprits”. 
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